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No. 11-13, West Wycombe Village

Historic Building Investigation and Recording

1  INTRODUCTION

1.1   Background
1.1.1 Oxford  Archaeology (OA) have been commissioned  by The National Trust to carry out

historic buildings recording and archaeological investigation during conservation works
to a number of properties within the village of West Wycombe, Buckinghamshire.  The
work  relates  to  a  programme  of  refurbishment  works  (detailed  further  below)  to  be
undertaken between 2012-15 and the current report covers the recording of Numbers 11-
13.

1.2   Wider background to the West Wycombe project

1.2.1 The current work forms part of a wider project to refurbish the tenanted National Trust
buildings within West Wycombe village and it will be carried out in a number of stages
between 2012-2015. 

1.2.2 The main works in the current programme include:
• Re-roofing and insertion of insulation
• Upgrades of services
• Upgrades of bathrooms and kitchen facilities
• Repairs to gutters 

1.2.3 The National  Trust  owns c.50 tenanted buildings  in  the village and c.23 of  these  are
listed. There is one Grade II* building (Steps House) while the others are listed at Grade
II. No 11 forms one Grade II listing while No 12-13 forms another. 

1.2.4 The village forms a collection of vernacular buildings from a range of dates and with
various  historical  functions  and  the  current  project  provides  a  rare  opportunity  to
undertake a single overarching study of a settlement such as this.  The investigation of
this  group  will  particularly  allow  the  easy  comparison  of  constructional  techniques
between buildings to identify similarities between structures of different ages as well as
highlighting evidence to show how constructional techniques or structural design in this
area has evolved over time. 

1.2.5 In September 2012 Gary Marshall (National Trust Archaeologist London and South East)
issued a brief for the recording project and in October OA responded with a Proposal for
Building Investigation and Recording. 

1.2.6 Vernacular  Building  Surveys  were  undertaken  on  many  of  the  buildings  in  the  early
1990s and these provide much valuable information on the history of the structures and
evolution of the village. The current recording work utilises existing plans and research
undertaken by the Vernacular Buildings Survey in October 1993.  For ease of comparison
internal  spaces  and rooms use the  same numbering system as  used in the Vernacular
Buildings Survey report.  The VBS report should also be read in conjunction with the
current report.
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1.2.7 This document forms a stand-alone report on the investigation of No. 11, 12 and 13 High
Street and ultimately similar reports will be issued on the other buildings investigated at
West Wycombe. The information contained in all these reports will then be distilled into
a wider  context  study which  will  discuss  the  overall  development  of  the  village  and
highlight common themes or features between buildings.

1.2.8 The main recording at No.11-13 focused on the roof structure following removal of the
roof tiles but it  also included some internal recording following removal of render on
walling on the 1st floor.  This report is intended to complement the Vernacular Building
Survey rather than to replace it and it focuses particularly on the areas exposed. The VBS
is reproduced here as an appendix while the main body of the current report discusses the
areas recently exposed and assesses how this affects the previous understanding of the
building.     

1.3   Methodology
1.3.1 The work comprised three  principal  elements:  a  photographic,  a  drawn and a  written

survey. The  photographic survey  consisted of general photographs and  specific details
and was undertaken using 35mm black and white print film and digital photographs were
taken using a Caplio 8 megapixel camera.

1.3.2 The drawn survey consisted of a scale drawing of the westernmost truss of no. 11 (Truss
4) and annotation of the second floor plan to indicate the roof structure with trusses and
other details measured in.

1.3.3 The descriptive survey complemented the photographic and drawn surveys and added
further analytical and descriptive detail. 

1.3.4 The  main  site  work  for  the  building  recording  of  11-13  took place  on  16th and  20th

November  2012.  The  site  was  also  visited  by  Martin  Bridge  of  the  Oxford
Dendrochronology  Laboratory  and  assessed  for  its  potential  for  tree-ring  dating  but
unfortunately  the timbers  were  found to  have  insufficient  rings  to  allow this  type  of
analysis. 

1.4   Historical Background to West Wycombe Village
1.4.1 West Wycombe is a small historic village which is just detached from the modern western

boundary of the much larger town of High Wycombe. Archaeological investigations have
provided evidence of continuous occupation in the general vicinity since the Bronze Age,
particularly  on  West  Wycombe  Hill  and  the  area  where  St  Lawrence’s  Church  now
stands.  

1.4.2 In the first half of the 18th century West Wycombe Park and country house was laid out
by Sir Francis Dashwood to the south of the village.

1.4.3 The  current  buildings  in  the village  are  believed  to largely date  from the early 16th
century to the later 19th and they formed part of the Dashwood’s estate. The village was
located on the main road between London and Oxford and records show there were a
large number of inns which prospered on the coaching trade. 

1.4.4 By the early decades of the 20th century the buildings of the village had fallen into a state
of  considerable  disrepair  and  in  1929  the  village  estate  was  purchased  from  the
Dashwood Family by the Royal Society of Arts (RSA). The RSA undertook a programme
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of  refurbishment  under  their  Campaign  for  the  Preservation  of  Ancient  Cottages,  a
remarkable but little known campaign established in 1926 to protect cottage architecture
by establishing  a  fund which  purchased  or  restored  cottages.  (RSA ref:  PR.EN/100).
Documents relating to this purchase and refurbishment are held at the RSA Archives in
London and this may be an avenue of valuable research in the current project.

1.4.5 In 1934, following the RSA refurbishment, the buildings were donated to the National
Trust and they remain as a tenanted estate today.  

1.4.6 More detailed historical research into No.11-13, as well as the village more generally will
be  undertaken  in  due  course  as  part  of  the  current  project  and  the  findings  will  be
incorporated into the final report. The only sources so far consulted are historic maps and
particularly the Plan of West Wycombe Town from 1767, the Tithe Map from 1849 and
25  inch  Ordnance  Survey  maps  (1876,  1898,  1921).  The  1767  and  1849  maps  are
included in the Vernacular Building Survey at the rear of this report and they each clearly
show the buildings along the street front (No 11-12) as well as the building to the south-
west (not included in current work). The 1767 and 1849 maps distinctly show the south-
west  range  as  being  separate  from the  street  front  buildings  and  we can  assume  the
current roof in this area which stretches around the corner to link the two buildings, post-
dates  these maps. It  is  also interesting to note  that  neither  map shows the southward
projection that today forms No.13. The VBS suggested a date of the early to mid 17th

century for this structure and the current work would broadly support such a date. The
1767 map is likely to be somewhat schematic and to not accurately show all buildings
behind the street front but it is more surprising that it appears not to be shown on the
1849  map.  The  map  included  in  the  VBS is  a  tracing  of  the  tithe  map  so  a  further
examination of the original map may be of value. 

1.4.7 The 1876 OS map confirms that the corner range had been constructed by this date and
the later OS maps do not show any clear significant evidence relating to the development
of this building. 

1.4.8 A discussion on the phasing of this building is included below in the conclusion section.

2  DESCRIPTION OF INVESTIGATIONS

2.1   Introduction
2.1.1 West Wycombe is located approximately three miles west of High Wycombe.  The High

Street forms part of the A40 which runs through the village.  The parish church is located
on a hill above the village.  Nos. 11- 13 are situated on the south side of the High Street.
Nos 11 and 12 have their frontage facing onto the High Street, no. 13 is situated to the
rear of no. 12. 

2.1.2 The section  of  roof  on the range  parallel  to  the High Street  (No.11-12)  was exposed
initially and access was very largely from external scaffolding. There were a number of
stored items within the roof which caused some problems with access but it was possible
to see the large majority of the structure and a new roof plan showing individual rafters
and trusses was produced using the first floor plan as a base. In addition the westernmost
truss (Truss 4) was drawn at scale 1:20 to provide further detail.
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2.2   Roof 
2.2.1 The street front ranges run east to west and contain 4 trusses which separate four bays

from each other. The western two bays are within No.11 while the eastern two bays are
within No. 12.  The roof for no. 12 is 8.1m long, the roof for no.11 is 8.75m long. The
roof structure for no 12 differs from that of no 11 by having curved wind bracing to three
trusses.  

2.2.2 The easternmost truss (Truss 1: No.11-12) is situated adjacent to the timber framed gable
wall of no. 14. This gable wall has brick nogging (largely secondary brickwork) to the
external  areas  while  within the roof space the end wall  of  No.14 is  closed by a stud
partition with lath and plaster. 

2.2.3 There is an obvious difference in height between the adjoining rooflines: no. 14 having
an extra storey in living accommodation and the evidence is inconclusive as to which
building  was  constructed  first.  The  general  appearance  suggests  that  No.12  was
constructed against No.14 (therefore post-dating it) and there is no evidence of any studs
enclosing the eastern wall of No.12. However the end of a large, spine floor joist for no.
14 projects into the roof space of no. 12 suggesting that No.14 post-dates No.12. Clearly
if No.14 had ever been free-standing then this member would have been truncated here.
The  floor  joist  could  however  be  a  secondary  addition.  It  was  also  noted  that  the
brickwork in the front (north) elevation of No.14 is not bonded into the southward return
of this wall. 

2.2.4 Truss  1  lies  flush  with  this  gable  wall  and  the  visible  parts  of  the  truss  comprise  a
cambered tie-beam, principal rafters, queen struts (supporting collar) and clasped purlins.
The lower part of the truss, including the tie-beam is obscured by roof insulation.   It has
a single wind brace to the west side of the truss on the both the north and south slopes.
There is no evidence of a former brace on the east side of this truss apparently confirming
that  this  roof  (No.12)  did  not  formerly  continue  east.    Within  Bay 1  there  are  two
secondary spreading timbers, inserted between the purlins to reduce the sag of the roof.
These timbers have simple birds-mouth notches (triangular shaped) cut at each end where
they adjoin the purlins.

2.2.5 The rafters in the roof of number 12 appear relatively consistent, largely primary and laid
flat  to  the  slope.  They  are  suggestive  of  a  possible  17th-century  (or  potentially  16th

century) date and they have unusually long pegs coupling the heads of the rafters. There
are eight rafters in Bay 1 and eight in Bay 2 and they are generally c.13 cm wide by 7 cm
deep. The rafters overlie the purlins and they are fixed with generally long, projecting
pegs similar  to  those at  the apex.   Long pegs  are  also used through the sides  of  the
principal rafters to secure the tenon joints where the collars are housed within the rafter.
The rafter feet are nailed to the top of the wall plate and terminate within simple notches.
The wall plates are coupled with secret bridled scarf joints  and edge pegs. 

2.2.6 The central truss of No.12 (Truss 2: No.11-12) has wind bracing to both sides and there
are numerical carpenters marks IIII and V scribed (not chiselled) into the braces. Truss 2
is similar to Truss 1 and contemporary with it. 

2.2.7 The floor of this section of the roof is currently covered in insulation but appears to be
boarded underneath.  The height of the ceiling below is fairly high compared to that of
no. 11.  
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2.2.8 Truss 3 (No.11-12) separates the roofspace of no.11 and 12 and lies beyond a substantial
brick stack on the west side of the roof.  The main part of this stack is formed from thin
old bricks (possibly 16th century) but the upper c.10 courses are later (19th century). The
south end of this truss has modern concrete block infill while the remainder of the truss is
infilled with wattle and daub with a plaster finish over some areas.  The wattle and daub
partitions are very roughly made with unfinished timber struts.  The upper face of the
horizontal  collar  has  rebates  within  for  muntins  or  staves  (uprights  from the  former
partition).  There is an opening within the partition wall providing access to the adjacent
raised storage area within the roof of no. 12.  The central post of this truss is very rough
and loosely fixed to the apex of the roof truss which is pegged.  

2.2.9 There are peg holes in the upper face of the principal rafter to confirm that there were
formerly wind braces to the west side of truss 3 and braces remain in-situ at the western
part of this bay (against Truss 4). This appears to confirm that the full three bays (Trusses
1-4 are contemporary with each other. 

2.2.10 The ceiling below Bay 3 appears to be a mix of modern plasterboard and lath and plaster.

2.2.11 Truss 4 (No.11-12) is also partially enclosed by a wattle and daub partition which would
have created an attic space within Bay 3. 

2.2.12 The roof in the the western bay of no. 12 is clearly a later addition and forms a hip that
extends to the south in the adjacent building.  The rafters here appear to be of  19th-
century date although it is likely to have replaced a previous structure. This is particularly
suggested by the fact that the purlins on the north and south slopes continues from the
older eastern building into this western bay.  However there is no evidence of a former
wind brace on the west side of Truss 4. The western wall is of red brick construction
appearing to date to the 18th/19th century.  The partition wall for the rear of this roof is of
concrete block construction.  

2.2.13 No.13 is to the rear of the eastern half of No.12 and tiles were removed from the eastern
slope  when  the  current  recording  was  undertaken.  This  roof  is  clearly  later  than  the
building fronting the street and the timbers appear very mixed in dimension, date and
style suggesting this was constructed using reused members.

2.2.14 The roofspace for no. 13 essentially divides into two areas either side of the chimney
stack which is situated at the junction between the roofs for nos. 12 and 13. The two
sections of roof appear contemporary with each other.  

2.2.15 The main roof is the two-bay section to the south of the stack and the VBS states that
prior to the 1970s the building continued for a further bay. There are three trusses in this
area and although they would have had a similar form the southernmost one has been
significantly  altered  or  removed  and  other  parts  (eg  tie-beams)  are  obscured  by
insulation. The trusses have clasped purlins, a yoke beneath thick ridge piece, principal
rafters (14 x 10 cm) which are diminished above the purlin  and a collar  with a clear
groove in the upper face for staves. 

2.2.16 At the northern end of this section of roof is a chimney stack which divides No.12 from
13 and which is constructed from old bricks (17th-18th C) although it appears the stack
was widened on the east side with another flue and then removed.  
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2.2.17 To the north of the stack is a small  area constructed against  the older south slope of
No.12 and curiously the sloped outer face of the older rafters have lath and plaster. This
was not  a  usable  space so the purpose of the lath and plaster here is  unclear.  It  was
presumably contemporary with the later building rather than being a surviving fragment
from the earlier structure and it could have provided some insulation between buildings
or just a screen between separate properties.  

2.2.18 To the rear of no. 11 to the west are two small extensions.  The northern extension is the
smallest and appears to be 20th century in date with early 20th century brickwork and
modern concrete blockwork to the inside.  The roof timbers appear mixed in date but
overall  the appearance is  of 20th century date.   The wall  plate  for the western block
adjacent to this continues through this structure.  A larger extension lies to the south and
the roof was only partially uncovered.  The rafters are simple squared timbers and there is
no truss however the rafters go straight over purlins of which there is one to each slope of
the roof.  The roof structure appears to date to the 18th or 19th century. There is concrete
block within the north wall.

2.3   Removal of wall plaster in No.11 
2.3.1 The building works included the removal of wall plaster within and outside of the rear

bedroom of no. 11. (11/K and 11/N on the VBS plan) and this revealed phasing evidence
relating to the development of the building.  The key feature revealed is a clear sloped
scar on both sides of the wall between these rooms from a former catslide roof which
sloped down from west to east over a ground floor extension.  Evidence discussed below
suggests that the current upper floors over these two areas were created in two phases
with the bedroom (11K) being created before the lobby (11N).  

2.3.2 Inside room 11/N adjacent to the door on the north wall is a recess (blocked opening)
within the brickwork approximately 730mm wide x 460mm high with some traces  of
plaster within the recess.  The bricks within this recess are of mixed date and laid in an
irregular bond with dark cream coloured lime mortar. The lintel of the recess is formed
using the wall plate and the brick wall terminates under this.  The west side of the recess
has  different  mortar,  paler  in  colour  with dark inclusion  and this  mortar  is  also seen
within the red tile infill  to  the eastern jamb of  the doorway suggesting this  area was
rebuilt. The brickwork in this area also contains the scar of the former lower roofline
which  runs  1.1m  from  floor  level  downwards,  east  –  west.   Within  this  area  the
red/orange bricks are laid in an irregular bond but are more uniform in colour and size
(230mm x 60mm x 120mm)  that  seen  in  the  brickwork above  the  scar.   The bricks
located on the edge of the slope are cut to fit the angle of the roof.  One brick header has
been inserted at an angle which probably replaces a purlin removed when the roof was
heightened  and  the  room was  created.  There  is  some patchy  limewash on  the  bricks
suggesting the gable wall was painted. It is interesting to note that between the original
roofline and the later brickwork the battens for the tiles relating to the original roof line
survive in-situ. 

2.3.3 A horizontal timber runs from the doorway to a blocked opening to the east of the door at
approximately 30cm from floor  level.   This timber appears  truncated by the doorway
which is a later  insertion and the void between the door frame and the brick wall  is
infilled with bricks on end and red tile fragments as described above.

2.3.4 Above the scar of the former roofline the wall is formed of rough mixed brickwork with
the occasional blackened brick.  The bond is again irregular and there are some brick

© Oxford Archaeology Page 6 of 10 March 2013



No 11-13 West Wycombe Village Report on Building Investigation

fragments used including one brick with a circular cut to one end.  There are patches of
plaster  with  red  clay  roof  tiles  laid  flat  within,  possibly  to  create  a  flat  surface  for
decoration.  

2.3.5 To the east  end of this wall  there is  a large blocked opening,  presumably a doorway,
measuring approximately 0.86m wide x 1.7m high.  There are very clear straight joints to
both jambs and a section of possibly the timber lintel for the doorway to the western
edge.  The bricks infilling the opening have been covered with a thin layer of render and
then painted white.  Some exposed areas of brickwork show red coloured bricks fairly
regular in shape and size (223 x 109 x 63mm).  The mortar is friable white coloured with
mixed lime and black coloured inclusions very similar to that  seen beside the current
doorway indicating that when one door was blocked, another was inserted.  The upper
course of brickwork is formed of brick fragments which are angled inward to meet the
wall plate which is set slightly in from the face of the wall.  

2.3.6 To the east of this infilled door the brickwork is mixed as seen above the former roof
scar.   This  eastern  elevation  has  a  large  amount  of  modern  sand  cement  rendering
however  one  area  of  original  plaster  remains  adjacent  to  the  north  elevation.   The
remaining walls within this room are covered with modern plaster and therefore could not
be examined in detail.

2.3.7 Within the  landing (11K)  the sloped  scar  of  the  former  roof  is  again  visible  but  the
brickwork above the line is relatively regular and soot blackened strongly suggesting that
it was formerly external. This brickwork is also two bricks thick and slightly overhands
the rougher brickwork below it which is roughly plastered. Between the two phases of
brickwork is the clear imprint from a former sloped rafter from when the catslide roof
remained across the landing but after the construction of the wall which formed bedroom
11N.  This confirms that room 11N was created before 11K and it confirms the phasing
evidence exposed within the roof structures (discussed above).

3  CONCLUSION AND SUMMARY OF PHASING

3.1.1 The current investigation into No.11-13 High Street, West Wycombe has enhanced our
understanding of both this structure and of the wider development of the village. The
work has broadly confirmed the construction phases suggested in the Vernacular Building
Survey with the earliest section being the three easternmost bays along the street front (ie
No.12 and the eastern half of No.11). The evidence in the roof appears to confirm that
this was a distinct three-bay building with queen strut trusses, clasped purlins, a single
tier  of  wind braces,  cambered  collars  and a  chimney stack towards  the  centre  of  the
building.  The VBS suggests a date of the early to mid 16th century and the evidence of
the roof would broadly support such a date (albeit with the mid 16th century appearing
more likely than the early 16th). 

3.1.2 The second phase of the building is the rear projection to the east (No.13) which the VBS
suggests was probably constructed in the early to mid 17th century. The evidence in the
roof would support a 17th-century date of construction but it is noticeable how this is a
cruder, lower status construction than the street-front range. It incorporates a wide range
of types of rafter and a lower status building is suggested by the yoke, the thick ridge
piece and the lack of wind braces.  The roof of the western part of No.11 is suggestive of
a 19th-century date and this supports map evidence which suggests that this corner range
was constructed sometime between 1849 and 1876 to connect No.11 with the building to
the south-west. 
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3.1.3 The blocked doorway within room 11/N is marked on the vernacular survey plan as a
blocked window, however this opening possibly once formed an external entrance to this
room which was clearly created when the roof was heightened sometime in the 18th /19th
century.
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APPENDIX A.  LISTED BUILDING DESCRIPTIONS

No. 12 AND 13, HIGH STREET, West Wycombe
Grade: II
Date first listed: 09-Jan-1954

HIGH STREET 1. 963 (South Side) WEST WYCOMBE Nos 12 & 15 SU 8294 9/74 9.1.54.
II GV 2. Pair of cottages. Late C16. Timber framed with colur washed brick nogging. 2
storeys, 1st floor oversails on exposed corbels and 2 brackets. 2 flush 2 and 3 light wood
mullion casement windows with glazing bars. R.C.H.M., p320. Outbuildings adjoining No 2
on West, Nos 2 to 5 (consec), Nos 7 to 9 (consec), The Swan Public House, West Wycombe
Branch County Library, Nos 10 to 13 (consec), No 15, Black Boy Cottage, The George and
Dragon Inn and Nos 16 to 23 (consec) form a group.

No. 11, HIGH STREET, West Wycombe

Grade: II 

Date first listed: 09-Jan-1954 

HIGH STREET 1. 963 (South Side) WEST WYCOMBE No 11 SU 8294 9/73 9.1.54. II GV

2. Early C18 front. Colour washed. brick, hipped old tiled roof. 2 storeys. Semi-detached,
facing yard on west. Casement windows: 2 to street elevation, 1 to return elevation, all flush
set with glazing bars. 8 fielded panel hatch door under cut bracketed hood. 1st floor band.
Outbuildings adjoining No 2 on West, Nos 2 to 5 (consec), Nos 7 to 9 (consec), The Swan
Public House, West Wycombe Branch County Library, Nos 10 to 13 (consec), No 15, Black
Boy Cottage, The George and Dragon Inn and Nos 16 to 23 (consec) form a group.
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APPENDIX B.  VERNACULAR BUILDING SURVEY FOR NO11 – 13 WEST WYCOMBE
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Figure 1: Roof plan of 11-13 West Wycombe
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Figure 2: West elevation of Truss 4 (11 High Street)
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Plate 1: View of no. 11 and 12 roof High Street frontage following removal of tiles

Plate 2: Detail of gable wall for no. 14 and Truss 1 which sits adjacent
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Plate 3: Detail of wind braces on south elevation (Truss 2)

Plate 4: Detail of wattle and daub partition walling (Truss 4)
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Plate 5: Detail of lath and plaster sloping partition

Plate 6: View of rear elevation of roof for no. 11 and 12
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Plate 7: View of east elevation room 11/N

Plate 8: View of north elevation room 11/N
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Plate 9: View of south elevation within lobby 11/K

Plate 10: Stack at south-west corner of No.11
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Plate 11: Continuation of purlin on south slope in No.11
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